THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr, Judge

---

Case No. 2017-CP-04-02099  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000421.

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 14 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

John Harbin,

Appellant,

v.

April Blair, Tracy Dunn, HUB Enterprises, Inc.,  
Shawn Conway, Gallivan White & Boyd,  
Sam Nikopoulos, and John Doe,

Respondents,

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Anderson, South Carolina  
January 14, 2021

*s/Donald L. Smith*

Donald L. Smith, (Bar No.: 6699)  
122 N. Main Street  
Anderson SC 29621  
Telephone: (864) 642-9284  
Facsimile: (864) 642-9285

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. **WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT.**
- II. **WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT UNDER SCFPSA.**

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### I. **THE GENESIS OF THIS ACTION (2014 Lawsuit)**

Sometime in 2012, Respondents April Blair (hereinafter referred as "Blair") and Tracy Dunn (hereinafter referred as "Dunn"), who were living together, invited Appellant John Harbin (hereinafter referred as "Appellant") to stay with them in exchange for his performance of general labor on Blair's house. Appellant had just finished work on Blair's mother's house and had received her vote of confidence. Initially, the three co-existed satisfactorily. A short time later, Blair and Dunn had a misunderstanding, causing Blair to throw Dunn out of her home.

Blair and Appellant had a brief sexual relation, which the former immediately regretted. To assuage her conscience, Blair called Dunn after a night of "lovemaking" (according to Blair) and gave him reason to believe Appellant had raped her. Dunn, armed with a gun, arrived shortly thereafter on his moped under the auspices of bringing dog food. Dunn immediately confronted Appellant. Appellant recognized Dunn's furor; grabbed his things; and went to the front yard to await a ride. Dunn made his way to the front yard and approached Appellant, ultimately shooting him in the lower leg. Appellant sustained serious injuries and had to be airlifted to Anmed, where he had to be confined.

Blair, in an attempt to justify her boyfriend's actions, claimed Appellant had raped her that morning, though she admitted spending the previous evening making love with him. She also maintained he had molested her when she was much younger. Despite this fact, she had

made love to him and allowed him to reside in her home with Dunn and her son.

Following the shooting, Dunn was picked up from the house by a passing motorist. He was eventually found at Blair's home. After he was picked up, he made several conflicting statements about his involvement in the shooting. Dunn first claimed Appellant shot himself. He also offered he was attempting to shoot the ground in front of Appellant.

On December 29, 2014, Appellant brought a case for damages against Blair and Dunn for the latter's act of shooting and injuring the former. Dunn resumed his romantic relationship with Blair, upon her release from jail (she had been arrested for drug possession on the day of the shooting).

At some point, Blair had Dunn arrested for Criminal Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature. It was alleged Dunn had held a gun to Blair's head. Dunn was on probation having pled guilty to Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature (for the shooting of Appellant) on February 15, 2016 and was swiftly incarcerated where he would remain until the CDV charge and violation of probation were addressed.

On June 21, 2016, Respondent Gallivan White & Boyd (hereinafter referred as "GWB") sent its attorney on the case, Robert Corney (hereinafter referred as "Corney") and its agent/employee, Sam Nikopoulos (hereinafter referred as "Nikopolous"), to the Abbeville Detention Center to visit Dunn. Shortly after Corney's visit to Dunn at the jail, the latter was deposed. It was during this deposition Dunn admitted, for the first time, he intended to shoot Appellant, and denied Blair's responsibility.

A trial was held November 28-30, 2016. Since Dunn had already pled guilty and been sentenced for the shooting. Double Jeopardy applied to any statements Dunn made. Thus, Dunn stuck to his statements in his deposition, taking sole responsibility for the shooting. Blair denied

involvement in the shooting incident.

A jury verdict was rendered in favor of Blair, the jury finding she was not liable for Appellant being shot. Following the trial, Respondent Blair informed the Public Defender's Office of her preference to dismiss the CDV case she filed against Respondent Dunn, despite the fact he had allegedly held a gun to her head. She requested the dismissal within days of the verdict.

With their victory in hand, Blair and GWB moved for costs pursuant to an Offer of Judgment. Blair sought to be reimbursed for expenses spent on surveillance of Appellant provided by Respondents HUB and Shawn Conway (hereinafter referred as "Conway"), private investigators employed and/or commissioned by GWB. This was the first time Appellant learned of the involvement of a private investigator. Appellant challenged the same as neither the investigator nor the surveillance report was provided during the discovery stage. Appellant was deposed in November 2015, while the surveillance was conducted on June 4, 7 and 8, 2016.

Appellants made post-trial motions which were denied.

## **II. PRESENT LAWSUIT**

Believing in good faith GWB and its agents (hereinafter referred collectively as GWB Respondents) performed acts to cheat Appellant of his day in court, he filed suit. It was his contention the acts of the defendants interfered with counsel's ability to try the case. The defense, recognizing the strength of Appellant's case, had extended an offer of \$100,000.00. Being unaware of the clandestine dealings amongst co-defendants and counsel, Appellant declined the offer based on the magnitude of the permanent injuries he had sustained. Appellant filed this action on October 9, 2017, in an effort to recoup what was lost in the prior trial.

### **Tortious Interference by Blair and Dunn**

Appellant believed Blair and Dunn conspired to defeat his claims by entering into a *quid pro quo* arrangement where Dunn was to take sole responsibility for Appellant's shooting and in turn Blair was to dismiss her CDV case against Dunn.

### **Tortious Interference by GWB Respondents**

Appellant claimed GWB was liable for tortious interference when it allowed its agent(s) to act as go-between and/or facilitator for the *quid pro quo* agreement. Appellant posits it was during Corney's visit to Dunn on June 21, 2016, when he relayed Blair's intent to dismiss the CDV case against Dunn if the latter confessed to the shooting, and absolved Blair.

### **Tortious Interference by HUB and Conway (hereinafter collectively referred as "HUB Respondents")**

Conway submitted a surveillance report and an affidavit indicating his surveillance had never included Appellant. Appellant and his live-in girlfriend executed affidavits which opined they had never left their home citing his injuries and a lack of finances. According to Appellant's affiant, also a private investigator, the surveillance video had been altered.

Appellant believes HUB is responsible for the conduct of Conway pursuant to *respondeat superior* and in presenting and/or submitting manufactured surveillance and its accompanying report to GWB.

On November 8, 2017, GWB Respondents moved to dismiss the Complaint against it, alleging as the lawyer for Blair, it could not be held liable for actions it took in representation of Blair. On November 13, 2017, Appellant amended his Complaint. On December 6, HUB moved to dismiss the case against it, while Blair moved to dismiss the case against her on December 13, 2017. Appellants opposed each of Respondents' motions.

On February 5, 2019, the Court granted GWB Respondents' Motion to Dismiss and dismissed Appellant's Amended Complaint. On February 15, 2019, Appellant moved to

reconsider the dismissal of his Complaints against each Respondent.

GWB Respondents filed their Opposition to Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, February 25, 2019, while HUB filed their opposition on March 13, 2019. The Court denied Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration against GWB Respondents in its Order dated October 2, 2019, and against HUB in its Order dated October 7, 2019.

### **GWB's Motion for Sanctions**

On February 13, 2019, GWB Respondents moved for sanctions against Appellant's counsel. It was opposed by Appellant. The Court granted GWB Respondents' Motion for Sanctions in its Order, dated October 9, 2019.

Appellant moved to reconsider but was denied by the lower court in its Order dated February 3, 2020. Appellant perfected his appeal on March 3, 2020.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **FOR THE DISMISSAL OF THE COMPLAINT**

In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct.App. 2001). A motion to dismiss can only be granted if there is no set of facts would entitle Appellant to a verdict on the claims in issue. Applicable standards state the facts alleged in the complaint are accepted as true. Scheuer v. Rhoades, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974); Franks v. Ross, 313 F.3d 184,192 (4th Cir. 2002). In addition, all reasonable inferences must be made in favor of Appellants. Johnson v. Mueller, 415 F.2d 354 (4th Cir. 1969); MacKethan v. Peat. Marwick. Mitchell & Co., 439 F. Supp. 1090 (E.D. Va. 1977).

In ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, it must be recalled the purpose of a 12(b) (6) motion is to test the sufficiency of the complaint, not to decide the merits

of the action. Schatz v. Rosenberg, 943 F.2d 485, 489 (4th Cir. 1991). At this stage of the litigation, Appellant's allegations are to be taken as true and the complaint, including all reasonable inferences therefrom, are liberally construed in the Appellant's favor. McNair v. Lend Lease Trucks, Inc., 95 F.3d 325, 327 (4th Cir. 1996).

### **LEGAL STANDARD FOR SCFCPSA**

The South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (hereinafter referred to as "SCFCPSA") provides an attorney or party filing a frivolous pleading may be sanctioned if "a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did not exist for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law." S.C. Code § 15-36-10(A)(4)(a)(ii) (2005). A court shall proceed to determine if a claim or defense was frivolous after a case has been dismissed by summary judgment. S.C. Code § 15-36-10(C)(1).

The SCFCPSA provides an attorney shall be sanctioned for a frivolous claim or defense if the court finds the attorney failed to comply with one of the following conditions:

- (a) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did not exist for the extension, modification, or reversal of law;
- (b) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that his procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of the civil lawsuit was intended merely to harass or injure the other party; or
- (c) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that the case or defense was frivolous as not reasonably founded in fact or was interposed merely for delay or was merely brought for a purpose other than securing proper discovery, joinder of proposed parties, or adjudication of the claim or defense upon which the proceedings are based.

S.C. § 15-36-10(C)(1)(a)-(c).

Upon this determination, a court may award sanctions including the reimbursement of reasonable costs and attorney's fees of the prevailing party under a motion pursuant to SCFCPSA. S.C. Code § 15-36-10(G). Costs shall include, but are not limited to, the time required of the prevailing party by the frivolous proceeding, and travel expenses, mileage, parking, costs of reports, and any additional reasonable consequential expenses of the prevailing party resulting from the frivolous proceeding. Id. Following the determination of facts, an appellate court applies an abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the decision to award sanctions and the specific sanctions awarded under SCFCPSA. Horry County v. Parbel, 378 S.C. 253, 662 S.E.2d 466 (Ct. App. 2008).

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I.**

#### **THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT.**

Under South Carolina law, the elements of a cause of action for tortious interference with contract are: (1) the existence of the contract; (2) the other party's knowledge of the contract; (3) the other party's intentional procurement of a breach of the contract; (4) the absence of justification; and (5) resulting damage. Webb v. Elrod, 418 S.E.2d 559, 561 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992). A tortious interference claim, thus "presupposes the existence of a valid, enforceable contract." Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc., 437 S.E.2d 168, 171 (S.C. Ct. App. 1993).

The Respondents were very much aware of the attorney-client contract between Appellant and his counsel. The intentional act of breach of contract was Corney acting as a messenger for his client to broker a deal with his client's co-Respondent. He also closed the deal by instructing Dunn double jeopardy prevented the State from going back on his plea agreement for shooting Appellant. The explanation cleared the way for Dunn to say without reservation he

meant to shoot Appellant, though he had never stated it previously. The agreement was for Dunn to admit sole responsibility over the shooting of Appellant, in exchange for the dismissal of the Blair's CDV charges against him.

There is no justification in Respondents' agent's actions, other than to ensure a positive result for their side. The agreement entered into outside the confines of the courtroom played a significant role in the outcome of the trial. Appellant was not privy to the agreement; and, therefore, could not put it before the jury to illustrate the conduct of the Respondents. As a result, he was deprived of due process and the opportunity to be awarded for the damages he sustained.

With regard to the HUB Respondents, the act of submitting manufactured evidence was an intentional act which breached attorney-client contract. By presenting falsified evidence, such as Conway's Affidavit and Surveillance Report, HUB Respondents assisted Blair in not only claiming a baseless reimbursement, but also deprived Appellant of the economic advantage he may be derived from the attorney-client contract.

Appellant asserts the individual and collective acts of all the Respondents significantly impaired his counsel's performance of his legal duties to herein Appellant. This is the breach of attorney-client relationship which was the basis for the filing of this suit.

Appellant believes all the elements of tortious interference with contract are present in this case. The Court should have allowed Appellant to flesh out his claims against GWB and its agents.

## **II.**

### **THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT AS THE CLAIM DOES NOT SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF SCFPSA.**

**A. The claim has a basis in law and fact and is warranted by existing caselaw.**

## 1. Basis in Law

The Restatement (Third) of Torts, §§ 16-17, address liability for economic harm. Specifically, Section 16 sets out the elements of the intentional interference with a contract. It defines what conduct creates liability:

- (1) A defendant is subject to liability for interference with contract if:
  - (a) a valid contract existed between the plaintiff and a third party;
  - (b) the defendant engaged in wrongful conduct as defined in Subsection (2);
  - (c) the defendant intended to cause a breach of the plaintiff's contract or disruption of its performance; and
  - (d) the defendant's wrongful conduct caused a breach of the contract or disruption of performance.
- (2) Conduct is wrongful for purposes of this Section if:
  - (a) the defendant acted for the purpose of appropriating the benefits of the plaintiff's contract; or
  - (b) the defendant's conduct constituted an independent and intentional legal wrong; or
  - (c) the defendant engaged in the conduct for the sole purpose of injuring the plaintiff.

### Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Economic Harm § 16.

As discussed in the previous section, Appellant satisfied the elements of tortious interference with contract. To briefly sum up:

#### **(a) Appellant had a valid and enforceable contract with his counsel.**

Appellant entered a valid contract with his counsel shortly after being shot in 2014. Counsel for Appellant is required to have a contract in order to represent his interests to others. The act of commencing litigation illustrated to Respondents that a contract existed between Appellant and his attorney of record.

#### **(b) Respondents had knowledge of Appellant's contract with his counsel.**

Respondents knew of the contract existing between Appellant and his counsel as most of them were parties to the 2014 Lawsuit. Respondents were served with the Summons and Complaint seeking damages for Appellant's injuries. Appellant's counsel set out the actions by Blair obligating her to pay damages to Appellant.

**(c) The interference of Respondents caused damage to Appellant.**

As previously discussed, the acts of interference each Respondent committed were as follows:

- i. Blair instigated a *quid pro quo* arrangement with Dunn, wherein if he absolved Blair of any connection to Appellant's shooting, she would in turn dismiss her CDV charge against him.
- ii. Corney and Nikopoulos visited Dunn at the detention center and relayed Blair's proposition and advised Dunn on legal issues such as double jeopardy. Blair and Dunn could not communicate pursuant to the bond conditions given to Dunn. Despite the fact Dunn could not make bond, he was prohibited from interacting with Blair, whether directly or indirectly. Blair's defense counsel circumvented the Order of the Court. He broached the topic of Dunn admitting intent to shoot Plaintiff. He used the admission and the statement regarding Blair's lack of liability to ultimately influence the jury in reaching the verdict depriving Plaintiff of a fair trial.
- iii. HUB and Conway submitted surveillance video created when it was subpoenaed. The video provided did not display anything related to Appellant. Appellant and his girlfriend did not leave the residence due to their lack of funds and the significance of injuries suffered by him.

As proof of this *quid pro quo* arrangement, Counsel for Appellant obtained an Affidavit from Clarence Tillman (hereinafter referred as "Tillman"), Dunn's cousin who was present during the shooting incident. In his Affidavit, Tillman mentioned that he was detained in the same detention center as Dunn when the latter was awaiting the result of his CDV charges. (R., p. 326). Tillman stated Dunn confided to him he was working with and/or corresponding with Blair's lawyer to eliminate the pending CDV charge filed by Blair against him. *Ibid.* Dunn was to deflect any liability for the shooting away from Blair. Dunn was to admit during his deposition and the trial he intentionally shot Appellant. Dunn had no chance of any further

persecution due to Double Jeopardy applying.

Kami Granade was the public defender in charge of Dunn's defense in the CDV case (and who happened to represent Tillman simultaneously for his charge/s). She was provided with an affidavit created by Appellant's counsel based on the Tillman explanation in February of 2017. (R., p. 381). She did not sign it. In February 2018, she executed an affidavit on behalf of Corney, which was virtually the same as the one provided to her one year earlier. (R., p. 386). Granade attested among others: (a) she represented both Dunn and Tillman in separate charges, when both were detained during late 2016 and early 2017; (b) sometime in December 2016, Blair contacted her about her CDV charge against Dunn and informed her she intended to dismiss the charge against Dunn; (c ) Blair was present at Dunn's CDV plea hearing but did not stay for the plea; (d) Granade communicated to the court Blair's intent not to proceed with the CDV charge. (R., p. 387-390).

At Dunn's plea-bargaining hearing, she disclosed:

24. County, Your Honor. Mr. Dunn's long-time girlfriend and the
25. victim in this case her name is April Blair. She was
01. actually here earlier, but she had to leave. I can tell
02. the court that Ms. Blaire did not want to pursue these charges.
03. She preferred that they had been dismissed, but of course
04. that is not within her power...

(R., p. 346, 24.25 & p. 347, 1.4).

The shooting incident was on June 24, 2014. On the same date, Dunn released his signed initial statement to the deputies, denying shooting Appellant. (R., p. 333). Corney visited Dunn at the detention center on June 17 and 21, 2016. (R., pp. 329-330). Dunn's deposition was on July 14, 2016. where he first admitted sole responsibility for Appellant's shooting. (R., p. 336). Dunn testified during the trial of the case on November 30, 2016. (R., p. 341). Tillman's

Affidavit was signed on February 2017. (R., p. 327). Dunn's plea hearing for his CDV charge was June 2017. (R. pp. 345-346). Granade's Affidavit was signed February 8, 2018. (R., p. 390).

Clearly, Tillman knew Blair would ask for the dismissal of the charges against Dunn, months prior to the scheduled plea hearing. This only bolsters the veracity of his statements in his Affidavit.

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