**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE J. CORDELL MADDOX
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000421
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2017-CP-04-02099

RECEIVED

Jan 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

John Harbin,

APPELLANT,

v

April Blair, Tracy Dunn, HUB Enterprises, Inc., Shawn Conway, Gallivan White & Boyd, Sam
Nikopoulos, and John Doe,

RESPONDENTS.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
GALLIVAN WHITE & BOYD AND
SAM NIKOPOULOS**

A. Johnston Cox, (SC Bar # 9081)
Jessica W. Laffitte (SC Bar # 100256)
Gallivan White & Boyd, PA
1201 Main Street Suite 1200 (29201)
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 779-1833

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Correctly Granted GWB Respondents' Motion to Dismiss.

This Court should affirm the circuit court's Order dismissing the Amended Complaint against GWB Respondents, as Appellant has abandoned the issue on appeal. Further, even if not abandoned, the circuit court properly held that GWB Respondents could not be liable to a third-party for actions taken in representation of its client. Finally, this Court should affirm the Dismissal Order based on the alternative findings that GWB Respondents cannot be vicariously liable for the actions of an independent contractor and Appellant has failed to allege any breach of the contract between Appellant and his attorney.

A. Standard of Review

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enft Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Rydde*, 381 S.C. at 646, 675 S.E.2d at 433. Inversely, the court may dismiss a claim when

the defendant demonstrates the plaintiff has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action in the pleadings filed with the court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 553 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2001). The trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss will be sustained if the facts alleged in the complaint do not support a theory of law. *Tatum v. Medical Univ. of S.C.*, 346 S.C. 194, 552 S.E.2d 18 (2001).

B. Appellant Has Abandoned Any Argument Regarding the Dismissal Order.

Appellant has abandoned his argument with respect to the Circuit Court's Dismissal Order.

"An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory." *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 573, 772 S.E.2d 882, 892 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7*, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011)); *see also S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Mother*, 375 S.C. 276, 283, 651 S.E.2d 622, 626 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding an issue abandoned because the appellant made "a conclusory argument without citation of any authority to support her claim"); *Hunt v. S.C. Forestry Comm'n*, 358 S.C. 564, 573, 595 S.E.2d 846, 851 (Ct. App. 2004) ("Issues raised in a brief but not supported by authority are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal.").

While Appellant offers one citation regarding the elements of a tortious interference with contract cause of action, Appellant offers no citation to any authority to support his claim that the circuit court's order granting GWB Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, and the reasoning therein, was in error. Thus, Appellant has abandoned his appeal with respect to the Motion to Dismiss and this Court should affirm on this ground alone.

C. The Circuit Court Properly Held that Appellant Cannot Establish a Cause of Action Against GWB Respondents.

Even construing the allegations of the Amended Complaint in a light most favorable to Appellant, the circuit court properly found that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a legal cause of action against GWB Respondents.

The circuit court properly relied on the well-established legal principal that a lawyer has no liability to a non-client third party for actions taken in the representation of a client. *See Gaar v. North Myrtle Beach Realty Co., Inc.*, 287 S.C. 525, 399 S.E.2d 887 (Ct. App. 1986); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995); *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Ctr. & Psychiatric Solutions*, 388 S.C. 394, 697 S.E.2d 551 (2010). Further, an attorney owes no duty to a non-client unless he “breaches some independent duty to a third person or acts in his own personal interest, outside the scope of his representation of the client.” *Argoe*, 388 S.C. at 400, 697 S.E.2d at 554 (quoting *Stiles*, 318 S.C. at 300, 457 S.E.2d at 602 (1995)).

Appellant has not and cannot plead allegations suggesting that GWB² and GWB Respondents acted outside the scope of its representation of Respondent Blair or that it breached any independent duty it owed to Appellant. GWB Respondents were only named in this action by virtue of its representation of Respondent Blair in the prior lawsuit.

In *Gaar*, this Court stated that “[in his professional capacity the attorney is not liable, except to his client and those in privity with his client, for injury allegedly arising out of the performance of his professional activities.” *Gaar v. N. Myrtle Beach Realty Co.*, 287 S.C. 525, 529, 399 S.E.2d 887, 889 (Ct. App. 1986). In *Stiles v. Onorato*, the defendant filed a third-party complaint against the plaintiff’s attorney, alleging civil conspiracy and initiation of a frivolous

² GWB is not even included as to the actual tortious interference with contract cause of action in the Amended Complaint.

lawsuit. 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). The Supreme Court, relying on *Gaar*, affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of the action, stating:

Nowhere in the complaint does Onorato allege in what manner Bowen acted outside his role as Stiles' attorney nor does he allege that Bowen breached some independent duty owed to Onorato. Therefore, on the face of his complaint, the only reasonable inference is that Bowen was acting at all times in his capacity as Stiles' attorney. Under *Gaar*, Bowen is immune for any activities taken in his professional capacity. Accordingly, under *Gaar*, Onorato's complaint was fatally deficient and Bowen's Rule 12(b)(6) motion was properly granted.

Id. at 300, 457 S.E.2d at 603.

It is astounding that Appellant and his counsel simply choose to make up facts far beyond what is even plead in the actual Summons and Complaint and seek relief before this Court on pure fabrications and conspiracies. However, the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the actual allegations of the Amended Complaint is that GWB Respondents were, at all times, acting as counsel for Respondent Blair. Indeed, even in his appellate brief, Appellant concedes that GWB's attorney was "acting as a messenger for his client." (App. Br. p. 7). Thus, dismissal was proper. *See Stiles, Gaar, Argoe, supra.*

GWB Respondents additionally submit that to permit lawsuits of this kind to go forward would not only condone, but encourage, unsuccessful litigants to re-litigate the issues under the guise of a different lawsuit. Moreover, it would lead to pervasive and frivolous lawsuits against attorneys for simply representing and advocating for their clients. Indeed, the tidal wave of unfounded litigation would have a chilling effect on the practice of law.

D. The Dismissal Order Should Be Affirmed Pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

Appellant has not addressed, in any meaningful way, that the Circuit Court's alternative but equally important ruling that GWB Respondents cannot be liable pursuant to *respondeat superior* for the acts of a private investigation firm, an independent contractor and thus may

affirm the Dismissal Order on this ground alone. The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR. An appellate court need not address remaining issues when disposition of a prior issue is dispositive. *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 408 S.C. 200, 201, 758 S.E.2d 716, 716 (2014); *Earthscapes Unlimited, Inc. v. Ulbrich*, 390 S.C. 609, 617, 703 S.E.2d 221, 225 (2010); *see also Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.* 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999).

The circuit court found that the Amended Complaint’s only specific allegation against GWB is that Respondent HUB Enterprises, Inc. was retained by the law firm to provide surveillance of Appellant, and therefore, it is liable for the conduct of the investigator pursuant to *respondeat superior*. The circuit court properly held that this sole allegation was conclusory and unsupported by any other allegations. *See Jones v. Gilstrap*, 288 S.C. 525, 528, 343 S.E.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 1986) (holding that conclusory allegations in a complaint are insufficient to survive a judgment on the pleadings).

Moreover, the circuit court properly noted that as a general rule, an employer is not vicariously liable for the torts of an independent contractor committed in the performance of the contracted work. *Rock Hill Tel. Co., Inc. v. Globe Commc’ns, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 385, 390, 611 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2005); *Duane v. Presley Constr. Co., Inc.*, 270 S.C. 682, 683, 244 S.E.2d 509, 510 (1978). Appellant’s Amended Complaint contains no allegations that even remotely call into question this general rule with respect to his sole cause of action of tortious interference with contract and the circuit court’s Dismissal Order should be affirmed.

E. Appellant’s Amended Complaint Fails to Establish the Elements for an Action for Wrongful Interference with An Attorney-Client Relationship.

The circuit court granted GWB Respondents' Motion to Dismiss on the two grounds discussed above, *supra*. However, there is another ground which warrants affirmance of the circuit court's Dismissal Order, as the appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." Rule 220(c), SCACR.

An essential element to the cause of action for tortious interference requires the intentional procurement of the contract's breach. *Kinard v. Crosby*, 315 S.C. 237, 240, 433 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1993). Of course, where there is no breach of contract, there can be no recovery. *First Union Mortg. Corp. v. Thomas*, 317 S.C. 63, 73, 451 S.E.2d 97, 913 (Ct. App. 1994). Furthermore, if a party fails to allege facts sufficient to support an essential element of a cause of action, it reasons that the party has failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

Appellant's Complaint fails to plead any facts or circumstances evidencing a breach of contract between Appellant and his attorney. While Appellant's extensive and colorful Amended Complaint may touch on other elements of tortious interference with contract, it glaringly omits any allegation that the contract between him and his attorney was breached or even interfered with in any meaningful way. As such, the circuit court's Dismissal Order should be affirmed pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

F. Appellant is Barred and Estopped From Bringing this Action Pursuant to the Doctrines of Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel.

Appellant's current action is nothing more than an attempt to relitigate issues determined and tried in the prior lawsuit. As such, it is barred by the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata.

The doctrine of res judicata provides that final judgment on the merits of an action precludes the parties or their privies from relitigating claims that were or could have been raised

in that action. *Venture Engineering, Inc. v. Tishman Const. Corp. of South Carolina*, 360 S.C. 156, 600 S.E.2d 547 (Ct. App. 2004), Res judicata bars not only the claims that were actually raised in a prior action, but also those issues which might have been raised in the former suit. *RIM Assocs. v. Blackwell*, 359 S.C. 170, 597 S.E.2d 152 (Ct. App. 2004). Doctrine of collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, serves to prevent a party from relitigating in a subsequent action an issue actually and necessarily litigated and determined in a prior action. *McClain v. Pactiv Corp.*, 360 S.C. 480, 602 S.E.2d 87 (Ct. App. 2004), ““While the traditional use of collateral estoppel required mutuality of parties to bar relitigation, modern courts recognize the mutuality requirement is not necessary for the application of collateral estoppel where the party against whom estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to previously litigate the issues.”” *Kunst v. Loree*, 404 S.C. 649, 653–54, 746 S.E.2d 360, 362 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Snavelly v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 379 S.C. 386, 398, 665 S.E.2d 222, 228 (Ct. App. 2008)).

GWB Respondents represented Respondent Blair in the prior lawsuit and was therefore in privity with her. Appellant’s Motion to Vacate and the Memorandum in Support of his Motion to Vacate included the affidavits of Willie Clarence Tillman and Michael Moske. In his arguments, Appellant asserted the exact same allegations and theories against the same exact parties as he does in the current lawsuit, including that the contents of the affidavit constituted “newly discovered evidence” and that Respondents conspired against Appellant and interfered with Appellant’s attorney-client relationship. The trial court found no reason to disturb the jury’s findings or verdict upon review of the post-trial motions. In fact, the trial court noted “the contentions made by [Appellant] in the current motion are not supported by credible facts or evidence. Rather they appear to be nothing more than unfounded conspiracy theories based upon

speculation, misrepresentation of the known facts, and the untrustworthy hearsay statements made through the affidavit executed by Tillman.” The trial court further stated “the record leaves this Court firmly convinced there was no such ‘collusion’ or ‘conspiracy’ amongst the defendants prior to the trial of this case. . . .”

As such, the issue of whether Appellant’s attorney-client relationship was impaired, whether Appellant was denied due process, and whether there was a tortious interference with the contract between Appellant and Attorney Smith were all previously raised to and ruled upon by the prior trial court. No appeal was taken from his post-trial orders. The parties, facts, arguments, claims and demands made in Appellant’s Motion to Vacate in the prior lawsuit are identical to those in the current lawsuit, as if Attorney Smith merely copied and pasted them into the Amended Complaint. While Appellant is unsatisfied with his result in the prior action, there can be no doubt that he had the opportunity to fully and fairly litigate these very issues in the prior action. Thus, Appellant’s current action is barred by the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel and dismissal should be affirmed pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR.

G. Appellant Cannot Rely Upon Arguments That Were Not Properly Preserved.

Prior to delving into the substance of this appeal, GWB Respondents note that Appellant’s arguments regarding “extrinsic fraud” were not raised in his Memorandum in Opposition to GWB Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss, nor in his Motion for Reconsideration. Further, Appellant only tangentially referenced “fraud” in his Motion for Reconsideration regarding the Sanctions Order. Thus, Appellant’s “extrinsic fraud” argument against GWB Respondents was presented for the first time in his appellate brief.

The law is clear that only issues “fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court” can be appealed. *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52

(2011) (internal quotations omitted); *see also* *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). For this Court to have “a platform for meaningful appellate review,” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011), the circuit court must have had the opportunity to hear every argument advanced by Appellant “to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments,” *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Appellant cannot keep “ace card[s] up [its] sleeve - intentionally or by chance - in the hope that an appellate court will accept th[ose] ace card[s] and, via a reversal, give [it] another opportunity to prove [its] case.” *I’On*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. These arguments were never presented to, nor considered by, the circuit court and are therefore not properly preserved to be considered by this Court.

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